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      To all those who refuse to let others define them


   

      “When those disciples were sitting in the boat
 and the sea was calm, they didn’t need Jesus, did they?
 But when the storm

            hit, that’s when they needed leadership.”


      —TYRONE WILLINGHAM


   

      PROLOGUE


      MICHIGAN


      September 14, 2002, Notre Dame Stadium


      NOTRE DAME WAS LOSING. That’s why Tyrone Willingham showed up when he did.

      


      With four seconds left in the third quarter, Notre Dame trailed Michigan 17–16. It was the first time they had trailed the

         whole season, so it only made sense that something would happen right then.

      


      Just two minutes earlier, receiver Arnaz Battle, easily the best athlete on Notre Dame’s team, had fumbled a kickoff, leading

         to a Michigan touchdown. Battle, though a senior, was in his first season as a kick returner, and his running style was hard,

         almost defiant. After taking the kick at the 15-yard line, Battle had lunged forward, knees high and head erect. He was the

         type of runner who never gave much thought to the first defender; instead, he looked through him as he planned to evade the next potential tackler. But after contact, while fighting for an extra five yards, he had

         momentarily forgotten about the ball in his right arm. As he was being dragged down by the waist, the ball had been stripped,

         and the Wolverines had recovered. Six plays later, Michigan running back Chris Perry had bulled in from the two, and Notre

         Dame was losing.

      


      Now the Irish had to receive another kickoff. As the kickoff return team huddled on the sideline, Battle stood on the outside

         edge of the group. To his left was Buzz Preston, the special teams and running backs coach. Preston had seven years experience

         coaching special teams, but he’d spent the last eight away from them, and now Preston and his units were struggling. The week

         before, Purdue had returned a punt 76 yards for a touchdown, and, making matters worse, earlier that day Michigan had blocked

         a field goal attempt. Now Battle, Preston, and the rest of the unit huddled at the 40-yard line. Around them, the other Irish

         players solemnly stood on the sideline, each one holding up four fingers, the traditional sign for the last quarter.

      


      Several hundred feet above the huddle, the student section ushered in the fourth quarter in Notre Dame fashion. Dressed in

         green T-shirts, they paid tribute to the head coach in signature style, forming W’s with thumbs pressed together and index

         fingers pointed toward heaven. Across the field, the band played Tchaikovsky’s 1812 Overture. In unison, the students waved their hands up and down in a continuous, fluid motion as the song came to its dramatic

         conclusion, horns spiraling, drums thundering, and cymbals crashing.

      


      As the song ended, Tyrone Willingham joined the huddle. His team was losing, but he knew all the elements were in place for

         them to start winning again. He knew that what they needed was a unifying force — a focused conduit of energy that could fuse

         the team’s talent, the fans’ desire, and the university’s grand tradition into a cohesive unit. They needed him.

      


      Willingham calmly walked up and stood between Preston and Battle. He didn’t say anything; he offered only his presence. Flanked

         by these two individuals who, like Notre Dame itself, had walked into the unfortunate spotlight of temporary failure, Willingham

         would not let them walk it alone. After Preston called middle return, they broke the huddle, and Willingham broke it with

         them. He forcefully slapped the rolled-up program he held in his left hand, standing straight-backed with arms folded as the

         spirit of expectation danced around him.

      


   

      1


      ROCK BOTTOM


      November 24, 2001, Stanford Stadium


      THE NOTRE DAME HEAD COACH had fought through failures before, but when he saw his team collapse this time, he knew there was no coming back from it.

      


      With over seven minutes left in the game, Bob Davie’s team was leading Stanford 13–3. It was third-and-ten, and the Cardinal

         had the ball on its own 19-yard line. Stanford had no chance. Well, they weren’t supposed to have a chance. But after Stanford quarterback Randy Fasani threw a strike to receiver Nick Sebes for a gain of 46 yards,

         something strange happened.

      


      The Stanford team, in this case the “other” team, acted as though they were supposed to win. Even though they were the “academic” team that was supposed to just make things respectable against

         teams like Notre Dame, Stanford acted as though they were the dominant program in college football. They carried themselves

         as if they set the standards for excellence. That was probably because their head coach, Tyrone Willingham, thought anything

         was possible.

      


      Even after Sebes’s long gain, things looked grim for the Cardinal, but with the clock ticking down, neither Willingham nor

         his team seemed worried. They marched down the field, and Stanford fullback Casey Moore scored a nine-yard touchdown to make

         the score 13–10. A few minutes later, after the Irish failed to move the ball, Stanford got it right back, and Cardinal running

         back Kenneth Tolon scored from the one to make it 17–13.

      


      That’s the way it would end. That’s why Bob Davie, Notre Dame’s head coach, said what he did after the game. “In the second

         half of Stanford,” Davie told the media, “we hit rock bottom.”

      


      That rainy night may have been when their coach and their fans realized just how fast they were sinking, but in fact, Notre

         Dame had been plummeting for a while. They had been in trouble back on September 29, after a 24–3 loss to Texas A&M left them

         at 0–3 for the year. It was the first time in history that any Notre Dame team had started the season with three straight

         losses. Though they continued to practice and prepare each week, their chances for a berth in a Bowl Championship Series (BCS)

         game had evaporated before the end of September, making it all but impossible to do anything but go through the motions.

      


      It wasn’t just the team, though. The spirit of Notre Dame had also declined, slipping from its rightful place in the pantheon

         of college athletics. The most conspicuous evidence was displayed during a game against Nebraska a year earlier, on September

         9, 2000. The disheartening 27–24 loss in overtime wasn’t the real tragedy; after all, the loss — to the number one team in

         the nation — was one of only three defeats the Irish suffered that year. The biggest blow was the overwhelming presence of

         Cornhuskers fans in Notre Dame Stadium.

      


      Nebraska had been allotted just 4,000 tickets for the game. But when the Cornhuskers team emerged from the tunnel, 30,000

         screaming fans greeted them — each and every one dressed in bright red. That afternoon, as Nebraska quarterback Eric Crouch

         sprinted down the sideline in overtime for the game-winning score, that rowdy cartel of Huskers fans erupted in unison. Oh,

         they may have just been visiting Knute Rockne’s house, but for the moment, those fans took over the stadium and treated it

         as though it were their house.

      


      It was a sign of the times. Notre Dame fans were still coming to campus on Saturday afternoons; they just had other things

         to do once they got there. They had to take in a Mass, check out the Golden Dome atop the Main Building, pray in the Grotto,

         browse the bookstore, and tailgate all weekend long. But the actual football game, once the crown jewel of an autumn Saturday,

         had become merely another item on the list. So when Nebraska fans rolled into town, money in hand, looking to score several

         thousand tickets to support their team, Notre Dame fans said, “What the hell?” and gave them up.

      


      Things had certainly changed since Bob Davie helmed the Notre Dame program in 1997. Davie was a coach who wanted to move the

         program forward. He once said that the administration, in terms of their standards of recruiting and expectations, was “living

         in the past.” Davie would finish his Notre Dame tenure with a decent, though unspectacular 35–25–0 record, and in January

         2001, he did take the Irish to the Fiesta Bowl, their first ever Bowl Championship Series game since the series was instituted

         in 1998. But at Notre Dame, a coach has to do more than just win football games. He has to embrace the university, with all

         its history and traditions. But Bob Davie didn’t completely “get” the Notre Dame culture. And his failure to grasp it, as

         much as his record, led to his undoing.

      


      Prior to becoming the Irish defensive coordinator in 1994, Davie had been the defensive coordinator for the Texas A&M Aggies.

         When Davie was named Notre Dame’s head coach in 1996, some Irish fans thought he’d never really left his old school behind.

         And Freudian slips of the tongue, like replacing the word Irish with the word Aggies at Notre Dame pep rallies, didn’t exactly endear him to Irish fans. But the truth was, Davie was just the kind of coach the

         administration wanted at the time.

      


      The Notre Dame football universe is no stranger to peaks and valleys. It’s a program that operates on a regular cycle, as

         the university tries to balance wins, losses, and image. When the football team is winning, all is good around the Dome. But

         when it gets a little too big, when Notre Dame football eclipses Notre Dame the university, the administration feels the need

         to remind themselves and their fans that their primary mission is scholastic. That’s when admission standards for athletes

         receive more attention. And as the university solidifies its academic image, the high-profile football coach, still the school’s

         most visible representative, suddenly becomes persona non grata. The shift usually involves hiring a new, less dominant coach

         — at least until the university and its alums start itching for more wins on the field again.

      


      You might recall the Gerry Faust era, from 1981 to 1985.


      Perhaps no other coach, save Knute Rockne himself, loved Notre Dame more than Faust. He knew what Notre Dame was about and

         tried to uphold the tradition of the student-athlete. He was Catholic, had coached at Cincinnati’s Moeller High School, a

         Catholic powerhouse, and he had always dreamed of coaching at Notre Dame. He recruited and signed a lot of great guys. Problem

         was, he didn’t sign a lot of great football players. As a result, he never won more than seven games in a single season. His

         woeful tenure came to an end on November 30, 1985, inside Orange Bowl Stadium. There, the Miami Hurricanes put it on the Irish

         58–7.

      


      Enter Lou Holtz in 1986. The diminutive fire-and-brimstone leader was handed the reins and told to restore the program to

         its rightful place. Holtz instantly obliged. He’d come to Notre Dame because it was his dream job. The crown jewel in Holtz’s

         first recruiting class was a marvelously talented quarterback from Woodruff, South Carolina, named Tony Rice. Rice was one

         of the few Notre Dame players ever admitted under the NCAA rules of Proposition 48, which stated that in order to participate

         during his (or her) freshman year, an athlete must (1) be a high school graduate; (2) have a high school grade point average

         of 2.0 in an 11-course core curriculum; and (3) have scored 700 (out of a possible 1600) on the SAT or 17 (out of a possible

         36) on the ACT. If he (or she) failed to meet those standards, the athlete would not be allowed to play or practice with a

         college team his (or her) freshman year. And that was the punishment — just three years of athletic eligibility.

      


      That was the case with Tony Rice. Because he had scored just 690 on his SAT, Rice wasn’t eligible to play for the Irish during

         his freshman year. In the past, Notre Dame may not have relaxed its standards to admit a Proposition 48 student. But allowing

         Rice entrance paid handsome dividends. Two years later, on January 1, 1989, Rice led his teammates off the field of the Fiesta

         Bowl with Notre Dame’s eleventh consensus national championship in tow.

      


      During Lou Holtz’s 11-year reign, the Irish came within two games of winning two more titles after 1988. Holtz had come in

         and done exactly what he had been asked to do: restore the power of the football program. But for the folks up top, whose

         priorities were slowly shifting back to academic pursuits, that was just about enough. For Holtz, the beginning of the end

         came in 1995. Coming off a 6–5–1 season, Holtz tried, unsuccessfully, to convince the admissions department to embrace a fleet

         “precocious” kid named Randy Moss. At the time, Moss was the West Virginia high school player of the year in both football

         and basketball, and he had committed to come to Notre Dame. But after Moss had been in several fights at school and was arrested

         for kicking a student who he mistakenly believed had written racial slurs on a desk, Notre Dame withdrew its commitment to

         him.

      


      Had it been 1985 rather than 1995, things may have been different. But that trophy from 1988 still maintained a pretty fresh

         glow, so the admissions department decided it could do without Randy Moss. Soon it became fairly apparent that Notre Dame

         could do without Lou Holtz as well. But it was more than just his “ambitious” recruiting that led to his departure. A dynamic

         and colorful public speaker, Holtz was paid thousands of dollars by corporations for his appearances. As the Notre Dame team

         gained more success, the demand for Holtz grew, and before long, his face was everywhere. The administration never wants its

         coach to upstage the university; friction was unavoidable.

      


      Holtz resigned after the 1996 season. But since he had such an intense passion for his job, many Irish fans are convinced

         that he was forced out of Notre Dame. He won’t say anything against the school now, but Holtz once complained to a South Bend Tribune writer that “not only do they want you to win every game, but by big scores.” There was talk that Holtz was “burned out”

         and that coaching had passed him by. But after a two-year stint as a college football commentator for CBS, Holtz returned

         to the sideline at the University of South Carolina in 1999. There, Holtz transformed the Gamecocks into winners, while Bob

         Davie was leading Notre Dame down the path of mediocrity.

      


      Notre Dame isn’t the only university concerned with its image. There’s a certain status that accompanies any scholastic university

         with successful sports teams. Take Duke University for instance. Some folks in Durham, North Carolina, swear that there’s

         a vested interest in keeping the performance of the school’s football team well below that of its storied basketball team.

         There’s a reason for that. To field a good hoops team, you need just two or three excellent players. Schools like Duke, and

         Stanford for that matter, can dominate on the hardwood without visibly compromising their academic integrity. But football

         demands more than two or three bodies. It demands at least 50 guys who can compete with anyone in the country. And with 117

         schools on the Division I-A level, all vying for those same players, it’s just a fact that you can’t routinely sign enough

         guys to fill your team without sacrificing some of your academic standards.

      


      In other words, if you field a consistently dominant football team, your school’s “meathead factor” is raised exponentially.

         Therein lay the rub for Notre Dame. They wanted it all. They desperately wanted to compare themselves to Duke and Stanford

         in the classroom, but they also wanted to be like Nebraska and Miami on the football field. Bob Davie had repeatedly said

         that what Notre Dame was asking him to do — compete for the national championship with players who were held to a higher academic

         standard than their opponents — was impossible. This was the same struggle that had plagued Notre Dame football for decades.

         It made the position of Notre Dame head coach one of the most demanding in college football.

      


      Offensive guard Dusty Zeigler, a second-team All-America at Notre Dame in 1995, summed it up nicely. “They’ve got to decide

         what they want to be — an academic school or an athletic school. They’ve made it very hard to recruit because of their high

         standards. Maybe they should take a look at another program to teach them how to do it. Stanford has very high academic standards,

         and they seem to be able to get quality athletes.”

      


      It was an interesting point — and it wasn’t lost on the Stanford coach. Tyrone Willingham had spent a lot of time thinking

         about academic standards. In the late 80s, Willingham had noticed the guy who was coaching the Duke football team. Willingham

         knew that the Blue Devils had never produced a winning football program until Steve Spurrier — an ultracompetitive cat much

         like Willingham — had arrived on the scene. On Spurrier’s watch, Duke went 20–13–1, even winning an ACC championship. After

         Spurrier left Duke in favor of a big-time program at the University of Florida, Willingham continued to keep an eye on him.

         While at Florida, Spurrier won seven SEC titles, and in 1996 he won it all when Florida beat Florida State for the national

         championship. Spurrier’s path — from unprecedented success at an academic institution, to even more success at a big-time

         football program — captured Willingham’s imagination. He didn’t know exactly how Spurrier had succeeded at Duke, but he knew

         a part of it centered on making players believe they could win.

      


      In 1999, perhaps taking a page from Spurrier’s playbook, Willingham led Stanford to its first Rose Bowl in 28 years, a feat

         not even NFL coaches Bill Walsh and Denny Green had accomplished while there. And his 2001 team, along with a 9–3 record,

         would go on to compile an 83 percent graduation rate. Academic achievement coupled with football success underscored one of

         Willingham’s basic philosophies. Wherever competition manifested itself, on the field, in the classroom, or in any social

         realm where success or failure could be tangibly measured, Willingham had one purpose. “The goal,” he said, “is to win.”

      


      High academic standards were not an insuperable barrier to athletic success, but the academic culture at Stanford affected

         Willingham in other ways. Despite his success on the field, the university had never rallied around his team. Football simply

         would never be a prominent part of Stanford’s identity.

      


      On the November evening of Stanford’s unexpected win over Notre Dame, Willingham was reminded of how Stanford’s attitude toward

         its football program had limited him. Before his team took control of the game in the third quarter, he noticed an unsettling

         presence in Stanford Stadium. A paltry 51,000 people had shown up in a stadium that housed 80,000, and the loudest cheers

         weren’t even for Stanford, who at the time was ranked No. 13 and on the verge of winning nine games that season. Sure, there were scattered cheers each time Stanford scored, but each time Notre Dame scored, a loud and

         clear “Go Irish” came from one section of the stands. Even when Notre Dame wasn’t itself in terms of spirit or dominance,

         they still commanded more of a presence than Stanford did.

      


      Maybe Stanford’s apathy that night was a sign that Willingham’s tenure at that particular academic institution was just about

         over. Maybe it was time for him to start thinking about doing the same thing Steve Spurrier had done, making the leap to a

         big-time football program. And maybe his timing was just right, since after that game, Notre Dame, the academic school with

         the big-time football program, would search for ways to maintain its academic image and win football games. How fitting that Tyrone Willingham, the coach who beat Notre Dame that night, just happened to be a man

         who knew how to strike that balance.

      


      After the game, Notre Dame had fallen to 4–6, and Davie wasn’t the only one who was frustrated. Inside the locker room, Notre

         Dame linebacker Courtney Watson quietly dressed. A junior, Watson hadn’t chosen to play for Notre Dame just to win football

         games, but he hadn’t expected to lose so much either. That night, Watson and his teammates knew that Bob Davie’s job was in

         serious jeopardy, but it was out of their hands. They just prepared for what they could control, which was their last game

         of the season against Purdue.

      


      Over the next several weeks, Watson and his teammates would hear rumors about several coaches who might be headed to Notre

         Dame — including Tyrone Willingham. Watson had met the man before. He was a senior at Riverview High School in Sarasota, Florida,

         when Willingham came to offer him a scholarship to Stanford. Well, Willingham had wanted to offer him a scholarship. At the time, Watson was a highly sought after running back who, in addition to rushing for more

         than 2,000 yards, had scored 1000 on his SAT. Willingham wanted him, but he also knew that Watson might be more attractive

         to the Stanford admissions department if he had gotten another 100 points on that test.

      


      Watson thought about that. Sure, he could take the test again, but what would be the point? The football powers like Miami

         and Florida State wanted him, and so did Duke, another academic school. One night, as Watson lay in bed, it suddenly occurred

         to him that Notre Dame was the ideal place for him. He could do it all there. He could win football games without compromising

         his academic beliefs or his personal goals. Watson had no idea that little more than a month after the loss to Stanford, his

         new coach would arrive, bringing with him that very same conviction.

      


      At Notre Dame, “image is everything.” At one time, it may have been thought that Bob Davie reflected the dynamic, disciplined,

         clean-cut image that once defined the university. But by the end of the 2001 season, it was clear that Davie hadn’t lived

         up to his billing.

      


      After firing Bob Davie on Sunday, December 2, 2001, Notre Dame athletic director Kevin White began his search for the new

         Irish head coach in the Bay Area. White, who was in his second year at Notre Dame, “contacted” Willingham on Tuesday afternoon.

         Now it should be noted that “contact” in this case means the two had a brief conversation on the phone. But Willingham wasn’t

         offered the job that day.

      


      White and Willingham had met before. Back in 1978 at Central Michigan University, Willingham was a young secondary coach while

         White assisted the cross-country team. They weren’t close then, but they became more acquainted with each other during the

         years Kevin White was the athletic director at Arizona State and Willingham chaired the Pacific-10 coaching committee. With

         that personal link in their past, it made sense that Notre Dame’s initial interest in Willingham was actually Kevin White’s

         interest in Willingham.

      


      After the brief conversation, White told local and national pundits how “passionate” Willingham had seemed about the job.

         When Stanford athletic director Ted Leland got wind of the conversation, he called Willingham and asked him the deal. Willingham

         confirmed that he had spoken to White, but he told Leland “they weren’t very interested.” That’s because the real purpose

         of White’s West Coast tour was to meet with Oakland Raiders coach Jon Gruden and San Francisco 49ers coach Steve Mariucci.

      


      Gruden was the Holy Grail of coaches. At 38, Gruden was not only the youngest head coach in the NFL but also an energetic,

         blond, and strikingly handsome man who had played high school football in South Bend while his father was a Notre Dame assistant

         and had once professed that coaching Notre Dame was his dream job. But at the time, Gruden was the most popular coach in the

         pro ranks, and he had another year remaining on his contract with the Raiders. He was a long shot to ever coach the Irish.

         He turned them down.

      


      On Wednesday, White took a trip to Santa Clara, California, to the 49ers’ training facility. Notre Dame was interested in

         Mariucci for the same reasons it was interested in Gruden. He was young, energetic, and good-looking. But in Mariucci’s case

         there was more. There was exactly one degree of separation from San Francisco to South Bend. The 49ers facility is named the

         Marie DeBartolo Complex. That would be the late mother of former 49ers owner Eddie DeBartolo, the same Eddie DeBartolo whose

         name adorns a building adjacent to Notre Dame Stadium. DeBartolo is among the biggest and most powerful of the Notre Dame

         alums. But Mariucci was an even longer shot to coach the Irish than Gruden was. Mariucci had taken his team to the playoffs

         that year, and he had just signed a long-term contract. After admitting he was “intrigued” by the Notre Dame job, Mariucci

         also told White no.

      


      On Thursday afternoon, White was on a plane to Atlanta, Georgia, with his sights set squarely on Georgia Tech coach George

         O’Leary. O’Leary wasn’t a handsome youngster like Gruden and Mariucci, but he did fit the Notre Dame image.

      


      Kevin White even said as much. “George kind of appeared to us all like something out of central casting,” he explained. “Second-generation

         Irish Catholic. Good football coach. Good track record of success. And a great institutional fit. On top of all that, George

         expressed a great passion for the job. It was his lifetime ambition to be at Notre Dame.”

      


      That last part had actually been documented. When O’Leary became the Georgia Tech coach in 1994, his deal contained a “Notre

         Dame” clause, which allowed him to break his contract to take the Notre Dame job without a buyout. When he signed a new deal

         in 2001, that clause was removed, but now he looked like such a good match for Notre Dame that White and his gang wouldn’t

         balk at paying $1.5 million to Georgia Tech.

      


      White called Willingham after making his decision to hire O’Leary. Willingham hadn’t campaigned for the job, but once he had

         a shot at it, he wasn’t about to let it slip away. Willingham, while intensely private and humble, is still at heart a competitor.He

         knew the most demanding position in college football could only be filled by the most demanding man in college football. “You’re

         hiring the wrong guy,” Willingham told White. “You need to hire me.” But it was too late to change anyone’s mind. White offered the job to O’Leary, and he accepted.

      


      O’Leary had coached Georgia Tech the previous eight years, but he resigned on December 5, right before Georgia Tech’s Seattle

         Bowl appearance, to take the Notre Dame job. When his hiring was announced on December 9, his first order of business was

         to gather his team in the meeting room at Notre Dame Stadium. Like any new coach, he had to establish the rules for his new

         regime. Before him sat a team that had finished the season a very un–Notre Damelike 5–6. O’Leary, with his ruddy face, perpetually

         tousled white hair, and pale blue eyes, looked his team in the eyes and told them, “Always tell me the truth. Don’t you ever

         lie to me.”

      


      On December 14, O’Leary, in one of the most damaging public relations debacles in college football history, was forced to

         resign from Notre Dame after it was discovered that he had lied. His résumé stated that he had received three letters in football at the University of New Hampshire and that he

         had attained a master’s degree in education from New York University. None of it was true. After 34 years of coaching, O’Leary’s

         reputation had been destroyed in one fell swoop. More important, Notre Dame’s already staggering reputation had suffered another

         crippling blow.

      


      The timing couldn’t have been worse for the Irish-Catholic university. Not only had its football team, long the bearer of

         Catholic pride and might, lost its luster in the college football community, but now its moral credibility was in question.

         In South Bend, football is just about everything, so in order to reburnish its image, Notre Dame needed to kick some ass on

         the field. But before the Irish could reach a peak high enough to wake up the echoes, they had to descend into the dark, funky

         abyss of rock bottom. O’Leary’s resignation and the search to replace him turned out to be just that.

      


      Remember that scene from the movie Trading Places? The one in which the orange juice stock is plummeting and Randolph (Ralph Bellamy) and Mortimer (Don Ameche), the two antiquated

         millionaires, are trying to sell their positions, but no one is buying? The same scenario now applied to Notre Dame and the

         position of football coach. A job that at one time had such unquestioned value was no longer worth a damn.

      


      Word spread that Notre Dame was interested in Jacksonville Jaguars coach Tom Coughlin, who had coached the Boston College

         Eagles to an upset win over the top-ranked Irish in 1993. Coughlin himself seemed amused by the rumor. He asked publicly:

         “Why, because I’m an Irish Catholic who beat Notre Dame?” Another rumor was that Notre Dame returned to Mariucci and Gruden.

         “Are you suuure you don’t want the job?” Once again, both said no. When Willingham’s name was tossed into the rumor mill once again, Ted

         Leland called Notre Dame. He told them Stanford was withdrawing permission for them to speak to Willingham unless they were

         offering him the job. “And they backed away after that,” said Leland.

      


      Willingham was the ideal man for Notre Dame, but for some reason the administration just wasn’t seeing it. Notre Dame is a

         university that fields sixteen varsity sports and hadn’t had one black head coach in its 114 years of intercollegiate athletics.

         Since lining up against Michigan in its first football game in 1887, crowning seven Heisman Trophy winners, winning eleven

         consensus national championships, and being immortalized in the films Knute Rockne, All American and Rudy, one thing had remained constant in South Bend: no black head coaches.

      


      If the Notre Dame administration had a face, it was university president Reverend Edward A. Malloy, C.S.C. He had succeeded

         the legendary Theodore Hesburgh in 1986, and was in his sixteenth year as the university president. Father “Monk” Malloy was

         a very tall man, about 6353, with silver hair, square wire-rimmed glasses, and large ears. A 1963 graduate of Notre Dame,

         a scholarship athlete on the Irish basketball team, residence hall rector, teacher, and administrator, Malloy was, in many

         ways, a Notre Dame “lifer.” 

      


      It only made sense that Malloy seek a coach who understood the “Notre Dame way” of doing things. He was looking for someone

         who understood the significance of Knute Rockne and the Four Horsemen. The fact that every person who had ever helmed a Notre

         Dame team was white may have been coincidence, but white men were familiar to Malloy. And perhaps that’s what took Malloy

         to Seattle, where University of Washington coach Rick Neuheisel was preparing his team to play Texas in the Holiday Bowl.

      


      In Rick Neuheisel, Malloy had identified a proven coach who was good-looking and educated, one who had a law degree from USC.

         But Neuheisel was also a coach who, while at Colorado from 1995 to 1998, had gained a bit of a reputation for his “liberal”

         interpretation of NCAA rules. It was never anything really heinous, but just enough to keep things interesting and to maintain

         his reputation as college football’s most precocious young coach.

      


      In fact, Neuheisel had a rep similar to Lou Holtz’s while Holtz was coaching at Minnesota. One year, Holtz allegedly gave

         money to a couple of his players for their personal needs — a transgression of NCAA rules. Neuheisel, in the summer of 2002,

         would tell the NCAA committee that he and his staff had “accidental encounters” with some of their recruits on high school

         campuses. Neuheisel didn’t think it was much of an advantage, but committee chairman Tom Yeager thought otherwise. Since seven

         of the 26 kids the coach bumped into eventually signed with Colorado, Yeager considered it unfair. “In most instances,” Yeager

         said, “these seven athletes were among the top recruits in their respective classes. In the end, the institution benefited.’’

      


      Neuheisel rightly and craftily defended himself. “I was reading the NCAA rules as an attorney,” he said, “meaning that it

         doesn’t say, ‘You can’t do that.’” After Neuheisel left for Washington, Colorado was slapped with 53 violations, 51 having

         occurred while Neuheisel was there. Most significant to Notre Dame was that Neuheisel’s punishment would follow him to his

         next job. Had he taken the Notre Dame job, Neuheisel would have been barred from making any off-season recruiting visits for

         the Irish through May 31, 2003. (But in the spring of 2003 things got even worse for Neuheisel after it was discovered he

         had bet on the NCAA men’s basketball tournament the past two years. Gambling on college sports, in any form, is forbidden

         by the NCAA, and the University of Washington fired Neuheisel.) 

      


      But perhaps Malloy wasn’t aware of Neuheisel’s antics as he sold his school to the coach that night. Or perhaps Malloy was

         thinking about the immediate future, not necessarily the long term. It didn’t matter, though, because in the wee hours of

         the morning, Neuheisel decided Washington was the place for him. He told Malloy thanks but no thanks.

      


      The next morning, Neuheisel boarded a plane to catch up with his team in San Diego, and Notre Dame went to its final option.

         On December 22, Kevin White called Willingham and asked him if he was still interested in the job. Willingham said yes. After

         he had the job, Willingham told a friend, “I never had to campaign for this job. A lot of coaches do that. When they wanted

         me, they called me.” But Willingham had not forgotten his first conversation with White. After he’d accepted White’s offer,

         Willingham coolly told him, “You should have hired me the first time.”

      


      On Thursday afternoon, December 27, 2001, in a half-empty stadium on a typically dreary Seattle day, Willingham’s Stanford

         squad couldn’t engineer another miracle comeback as Georgia Tech defeated Stanford 24–14 in the inaugural Seattle Bowl. Afterward,

         Willingham looked devastated. It wasn’t just the loss. His seven-year tenure at Stanford, one of the longest in school history,

         had officially come to an end.

      


      Willingham’s staff would have some choices to make. That Friday night, Buzz Preston, who coached the Stanford running backs,

         sat on his sofa watching Texas beat Washington 47–43 in the Holiday Bowl. While in Seattle, preparing for their game, Preston

         and the rest of Willingham’s staff had heard the Notre Dame jet was in town, so they naturally assumed it was there for Neuheisel.

         Willingham, guarding against leaks, hadn’t even informed his staff of his decision.

      


      As he watched the clock run out on the Holiday Bowl, Preston casually remarked to his wife, Audrey, “Rick Neuheisel is going

         to Notre Dame.” With that, Preston went out to get some ice-cream sandwiches, preparing to just chill out for the next two

         days. But when he returned, there was a message that Willingham had called. Preston immediately feared the worst.

      


      “Uh-oh,” he said, “I must have done something wrong. Did I lose a recruit or something?” 


      Instead, Willingham told him he had officially accepted the job at Notre Dame. “Well, do I still have a job?” asked Preston.

      


      Willingham chuckled. “Of course you do.” It would be a major change for Preston’s high school–age daughter, but the family

         was moving to Indiana.

      


      Bill Diedrick, the Stanford offensive coordinator, had grown accustomed to the Tyrone Willingham rumor mill. “Working with

         Ty was always interesting because it seemed like every year someone would make a run at him,” he said. After Notre Dame hired

         O’Leary, Diedrick just moved on. “Hey, we escaped another one, and we’ll be here another year,” he thought.

      


      After the Seattle Bowl, Diedrick and his wife flew home to the Bay Area, and the next day they took off for San Diego. But

         the next night, on New Year’s Eve, while Diedrick watched the Washington State–Purdue game on television, it was announced

         there’d be a Tyrone Willingham update at halftime. A few minutes later, he watched the Willingham family walk across the Notre

         Dame campus. Wow, I’d better go check my messages, thought Diedrick.

      


      Before leaving for San Diego, he had turned off his cell phone, and when he clicked it on, there were fifty-two messages for

         him. The first two were from Willingham. “Bill, call me back; I need to visit with you.” 

      


      The next one was slightly more urgent. “Bill, this is Ty again. It’s really important that I speak to you.” 

      


      When Diedrick called Willingham back, the coach asked his offensive coordinator to join him.


      “Notre Dame? That one was a no-brainer,” said Diedrick. Two days later, Diedrick, Preston, and four other coaches from Willingham’s

         staff at Stanford (Mike Denbrock, Trent Miles, John McDonell, and Kent Baer) joined him as he headed for South Bend.
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      WAKING UP ECHOES


      LIONEL TYRONE WILLINGHAM was born in Kinston, North Carolina, a small town near a military base about sixty miles east of Raleigh, and grew up in

         nearby Jacksonville. Like most black families in the South, the Willinghams knew they were surrounded by hate. That’s why

         they countered it with love. That’s why they went to church. And most black kids who grew up in the South knew that Sundays

         were for church — not a prescribed, time-limited service on Sunday morning or afternoon, either. For religious Southern black

         folks, church meant sitting on a hard polished wooden pew pretty much all day long.

      


      Sunday afternoons created a conflict of interest for an adolescent Tyrone Willingham. He would go to Jacksonville Methodist

         with his parents; younger brother, Jerome; and his two younger sisters, Joyce and Gail, but at a certain time of day, he would

         give in to the lust in his heart.

      


      In 1966, at 13 years old, he already had a passion for football, and the coaching part of his personality had already manifested

         itself in one of his hobbies. “Remember those electric football games? I used to turn off the electricity, usually because

         it didn’t work that well anyway, and just line the players up in all kinds of formations.” But on Sunday afternoons in the

         fall, Willingham was preoccupied with watching real football.

      


      “Services in a Methodist church could go past noon,” said Willingham. “You have to understand, Notre Dame highlights started

         around noon. So part of my responsibility to myself was to slip out of church and watch those highlights.” He’s quick to point

         out that he wasn’t necessarily a Notre Dame fan, but he was a college football fan.

      


      “Growing up in North Carolina at the time, it was difficult to be a fan of any team. There weren’t a lot of African-Americans allowed to play in Division One schools. And there weren’t a lot of venues

         for people in Jacksonville. On Sunday, you had NFL games and you had Notre Dame highlights.” 

      


      It’s fitting that Jacksonville, a town of 16,000, sat in the shadow of the Camp Lejeune Marine Corps Base, because every inhabitant

         of the Willingham house on Kerr Street embodied discipline, especially Tyrone. That practiced, rigid trot Willingham makes

         to the practice field each day reeks of a military influence. But look closer, and it reeks of something else too. That focused

         gait is a manifestation of the sometimes written but always loudly spoken rule of the segregated South: If “niggers” had to

         be seen, they sure as hell shouldn’t be heard. Wherever he went, he moved with a honed sense of purpose. And if he had to

         pass through a white neighborhood, he did so in silence. But as he matured, his silence wasn’t steeped in fear as much as

         it was fueled by pride.

      


      Never mind the 1954 Brown v. Board of Education Supreme Court ruling, in the mid-60s, in segregated Jacksonville, the black kids went to Georgetown High School and the whites

         went to Jacksonville High. But in the spring of 1966, on graduation day, Georgetown High was destroyed by a fire. At the time,

         the federal government was waging war on segregated education, and Georgetown was slated for integration the following fall.

         The origins of that fire were never determined, but Willingham, like many in the black community, said that he is still convinced

         the demise of Georgetown High School was the result of a fire-bomb.

      


      By the time Willingham was a teenager, schools may have been integrated, but race relations remained tense. Willingham’s daily

         trek to Jacksonville High School was two miles of humble silence. Blacks, or “colored” people as they were called then, knew

         better than to call attention to themselves. “I never actually witnessed or experienced anything really bad,” says Willingham

         now, “but I knew there was hate around me.” 

      


      If there wasn’t visible hate in his own community, the nearby town of Smithfield, North Carolina, certainly had no shame in

         its game. When Willingham was 12, his Little League baseball team took a bus to Smithfield for a tournament. Once they entered

         Smithfield’s city limits, Willingham, the team’s lone black player, poked his head out of the window to get a closer look

         at a large billboard in the distance. Written underneath a charcoal sketch of a hooded rider on a rearing stallion were the

         words: “Welcome to the home of the United Klan.” 

      


      That image burned into his head, Willingham approached high school the same way he had junior high. Even after he became the

         school’s first black quarterback, and the Jacksonville Cardinals Most Valuable Player, neither the measured carriage of his

         walk to school nor the foundation of his philosophy ever changed. Any type of statement that could be construed as self-aggrandizement,

         he considered taboo. He still does. Willingham gets visibly uncomfortable when asked to speak about himself. While talking

         about his high school days, he interrupted himself with a laugh and a disbelieving nod of his head. “This should not be the

         focus.” He doesn’t ever want it to be about him. It’s nothing personal, he just hates for anything to be about himself.

      


      His selflessness and sense of community are proof that the man sprang from the loins of Nathaniel Willingham. His father thought

         manic energy was better utilized erecting programs than bolstering his own self-image. A self-taught contractor, Nathaniel

         built Jacksonville’s Masonic temple and converted the bottom half of the Willingham’s two-story home into a recreation center

         for neighborhood kids.

      


      If Tyrone Willingham inherited the gene for practical thought from his father, then the strand of DNA that helped him become

         an educational pioneer came courtesy of his mother, Lillian. She spent most of her life as an elementary school teacher, pouring

         herself into Jacksonville community projects. Her most astonishing achievement may have been the master’s degree she earned

         from Columbia University. There weren’t too many black women who left the South in the 50s and returned with sheepskin from

         an Ivy League school. Today, in honor of her accomplishments, Lillian Willingham Parkway will take you directly to the manicured

         lawns of Lillian Willingham Park, located in downtown Jacksonville.

      


      Willingham’s parents left him with a practical view of raising children. “Some of these parents today are out clubbing and

         drinking,” says Willingham now. “See, I was blessed to have had older parents. They had already done all that and didn’t have

         to worry about it. These days, you have parents who, when they have kids, are still into that. You know that commercial with

         Kid Rock? It’s the one where he picks up his friend and tells his [friend’s] wife, ‘I’ll bring him home early.’ He doesn’t

         come back until early the next morning. That promotes that kind of behavior.” Willingham leaned back in his chair, rocking

         back and forth, and allowing himself to smile. “Nothing against anyone else’s parents, but I’m glad I had mine.” 

      


      Maybe Willingham’s balance, his unyielding emotional equilibrium, came from taking the bitter with the sweet. In January 1984,

         shortly after he and his wife, Kim, welcomed their first child into the world, he lost his mother. As he celebrated the birth

         of Cassidy Willingham, he mourned the death of Lillian Willingham, who had suffered a stroke. “After she died, we were worried

         about our father for a while there,” said Willingham. “But we knew how strong he was.” 

      


      In January 1995, Willingham was named head coach at Stanford. Several weeks later, Willingham needed his father’s strength.

         While Tyrone Willingham celebrated the fulfillment of his professional dream, his father, Nathaniel Willingham, passed away.

         Willingham asked questions then, but he doesn’t anymore. “You ask God, ‘Why me?’ But you come out of that mode because you

         realize we’re not smart enough to have the vision God does. So you don’t need to question anymore. You just thank God for

         all the positives you had with them, and you have a better understanding of how to travel in this life.” 

      


      By the time they passed away, Willingham’s parents had instilled in all four of their children the one prerequisite skill

         vital to many black youths’ success in the segregated South. “My parents taught us to dream,” he said. In fact, it was a healthy

         dose of dreaming that led Willingham onto the field at Jacksonville High School.

      


      Willingham was 5373 and 139 pounds. His shoulders didn’t appear broad enough to support his pads, let alone his dreams, but

         they were large enough to support a man-size chip. A small feisty quarterback, he became the all-time leading passer at Jacksonville

         High School. By the time he graduated, he owned MVP trophies in football, basketball, and baseball. And in 2000, he was inducted

         into Jacksonville’s Athletic Hall of Fame. He doesn’t like to reflect much on the past, preferring to move forward with the

         unrelenting passion of one who makes history rather than one who dwells on it. But that’s not to say he doesn’t remember things.

      


      Willingham particularly remembers his high school football coach, Ken Miller. He doesn’t recall some pregame speech or crunch-time

         tactic, but the way Miller treated people, shaping Willingham’s personal and professional focus. “It wasn’t his words, it

         was his actions,” said Willingham. “He was one of those who saw the good in you, regardless of what color you were.” Throughout

         his 20-year career, Willingham has applied that philosophy to each of his players.

      


      And, of course, Willingham remembers his parents. “Oh, I think about my parents every day,” he says. “But I’m not one to say,

         ‘Oh, I wonder if they’re looking down and watching me.’ They were always active, and knowing them, they’re probably still

         busy doing things. They aren’t worried about me. They know they raised me right and did a good job.” 

      


      If Willingham’s parents were watching, they must have seen that he had his work cut out for him at Notre Dame.

      


      Willingham had just earned a spot in the most visible office in the land, but before he could sit down behind his desk and

         make sense of it all, he had to hit the road. With just one month left before national letter-of-intent day on February 5,

         2002, he scrambled to make up for lost time and lost recruits. He went to Indianapolis to speak to James Banks, Notre Dame’s

         top priority at quarterback, but found that Banks had canceled his trip to campus and was leaning toward Tennessee. In the

         time Notre Dame spent searching for Bob Davie’s successor, they had lost five blue-chip recruits. Tight end Dominique Byrd

         had chosen USC, quarterback Gavin Dickey had committed to Florida, defensive lineman Julian Jenkins had chosen Stanford, and

         tight end Eric Winston was deciding between Miami (Fla.) or Texas A&M. Linebacker Jeremy Van Alstyne, from Greenwood, Indiana,

         who had originally committed to Notre Dame, had changed his mind and committed to Michigan.

      


      Among Willingham’s top priorities was receiver — because of the West Coast offense. If he was going to successfully implement

         his new offense, one that had seen much success at Stanford, he desperately needed some speed and more than a few able bodies

         at that particular position. So it was especially disconcerting when Josh Hannum, a receiver from Wallingford, Pennsylvania,

         called offensive coordinator Bill Diedrick and told him he had chosen Penn State over Notre Dame. Hannum supposedly ran a

         legitimate 4.3 forty meters, and that time would have made him the fastest wideout on the Notre Dame team. But just one week

         later, disappointment turned to fortune when Willingham received a call from Maurice Stovall.

      


      Stovall, from Archbishop Carroll High School in Radnor, Pennsylvania, was 6353, weighed 200 pounds, and possessed maturity

         beyond his years. He was rated by recruiting guru Tom Lemming as one of the top two receivers in the country — and he was

         only 16. Willingham told Stovall he needed a big receiver, and Stovall liked what he heard.

      


      “He seemed like a pretty good coach,” said Stovall after meeting Willingham. He chose Notre Dame over Michigan, Temple, and

         Virginia. “After discussing things with my family, I decided Notre Dame was the best choice, especially as far as earning

         a degree,” said Stovall.

      


      Things got even better for Willingham and his staff when they received a call from another receiver, Rhema McKnight. At 6313

         and 190 pounds, McKnight was smaller than Stovall, but of the two he was actually the more explosive and more polished player.

         Since he was from Los Angeles, the staff knew they had to do a great sales job to get him to dreary South Bend. And Trent

         Miles, the receivers coach, did just that.

      


      “You’re gonna play,” Miles told him. “In this offense we need a lot of guys, and you’re gonna be one of’em.” McKnight heard

         enough and committed. Just those two young men made Willingham’s first recruiting class a successful one. Willingham had told

         every potential recruit that there was only one team that would be televised every Saturday afternoon, and that was Notre

         Dame. And Willingham was telling Irish fans that when they tuned in, they would see an exciting group of players.

      


      In the show-and-tell that is football coaching, Tyrone Willingham was always more about the showing than the telling. But

         in the beginning, he had to tell his new team some things — 247 things to be exact. Willingham gathered the team in the meeting

         room at the stadium. It was the same room where Bob Davie had once smashed a desk to show his disgust when one of his players

         had the audacity to talk during a meeting. It was the same room where, just a couple of weeks earlier, George O’Leary had

         told them to always tell the truth. After walking into the room, Willingham made his first point with an apology. He apologized

         for being fifteen seconds late. He then turned on an overhead projector and highlighted 247 different points, each leading

         to one specific directive: Win.

      


      Only two weeks after that meeting, Willingham used winter conditioning to show his new team what was expected of them in the

         months ahead. To do that, he had to wake them up. Early. On Saturday mornings, the Notre Dame football team walked to the

         indoor field at the Loftus Sports Center for 6:30 A.M. work-outs. The two-hour sessions were grueling. They consisted of old-school calisthenics such as jumping rope, doing push-ups

         and sit-ups, and holding the legs six inches in the air, doing the old together-apart routine for several minutes at a time.

         The work-outs often culminated with players lying on the ground and throwing up from sheer exhaustion. During one of those

         sessions, Gerome Sapp, a senior strong safety, looked over at Courtney Watson and whimpered, “Who is this guy, and why is

         he doing this to us?” Other players weren’t as discreet and openly moaned out loud. During one of those times, Willingham

         just looked at them and, maintaining eye contact, blew his whistle three sharp times. He then told them simply, “Stop whining.”

         

      


      While Willingham was getting things started on the football end, the university took action on the scholastic side. Junior

         running back Julius Jones, whose 718 yards led the team in rushing in 2001, had been placed on academic probation for the

         second time in his collegiate career. He was expelled from school and would have to spend the next two semesters at a junior

         college. Willingham met with Jones before his departure and told him that after he had completed the requisite coursework,

         he could reapply the following year.

      


      For Willingham, the main point wasn’t that Jones was expelled. Based on his academic performance, he deserved to be. But Willingham

         wanted Jones to get another chance to prove himself. He didn’t want Jones to be discarded because of his lack of production

         in the classroom if there was a chance for improvement. Willingham’s philosophy was simple. Throughout the course of the year,

         Willingham would repeat it ad nauseam. He wanted to win. But for him, winning didn’t mean compromising a school’s scholastic

         integrity. Even more important, it didn’t mean compromising a kid’s professional future.

      


      “The key is, whomever you bring to college, you have to educate,” said Willingham. “Years ago, people said it was better that

         the kid just went to college, even if he didn’t graduate. They felt that was progress. But that’s not enough. That’s a loser’s

         mentality. You have to educate. That’s the goal. Then the kid can really do something with it afterward.” 

      


      In Jones’s absence, Willingham was left with sophomore Ryan Grant, who had only 29 carries in 2001, as the most experienced

         running back on the team. Grant’s backups, fellow sophomores Marcus Wilson and Rashon Powers-Neal, didn’t have a carry between

         them. But Willingham wasn’t especially concerned. He knew X’s and O’s were a major issue but that’s what his assistant coaches

         were for. For the moment, he was dealing with the big picture.

      


      Part of that picture involved leadership. To get everyone involved in the leadership process, Willingham changed the policy

         on electing captains. He decided they would be better served by electing captains each week than by selecting a few for the

         entire year. It was just the second time in the history of Notre Dame football that captains were chosen on a game-by-game

         basis. The only other time Notre Dame picked captains in that fashion was under Frank Leahy in 1946. Players from any class

         could be captains, but Willingham was looking primarily at the seniors for leadership. “It depends on where the seniors are

         though,” he said. “Some lead, some are indifferent, and some follow.” 

      


      Willingham was all about moving forward, but before he could do that, he had to take a step back. The vital ingredient to

         the lasting success of Notre Dame football was the maintenance of its tradition. Although Willingham hadn’t been Notre Dame’s

         first choice, he knew enough of the school’s heritage to teach his team. In recent years, tradition had become a cliché among

         the current Notre Dame players, as very few gave any thought to the past. Jordan Black, a fifth-year senior offensive tackle,

         confessed that prior to his recruiting visit in 1998, he had no idea what the Golden Dome was. And when a reporter from Channel

         2 News quizzed the current Notre Dame players on Irish football trivia, the results were abysmal. The questions were (1) How

         many Heisman Trophy winners has Notre Dame had? (2) Name at least two of those winners. (3) When was the last time Notre Dame

         won a bowl game? (4) What bowl was it? (5) Sing the words to the school’s fight song.

      


      Vontez Duff, a junior cornerback from Texas, may have turned in the worst performance. He got only one question partially right — he could name only one Heisman Trophy winner. And the reason he knew that Tim Brown had won the 1987 Heisman was

         Brown, like Duff, was from Texas. The reporter offered Duff a hint on another Heisman winner by saying that “one of them is

         here every week for games and is nicknamed the Golden Boy.” Duff paused before blurting out, “Rick Mirer!” 

      


      “No,” the reporter said. “It’s Paul Hornung.”


      But that was the sign of the times around campus. It seemed that when Lou Holtz made his exit in 1996, so too did the grand

         tradition of Notre Dame football. In his zeal to make the Notre Dame program modern, Bob Davie threw out tradition and was

         never big on former players hanging around his team. As a result, many of them said they didn’t feel welcome.

      


      Once Willingham arrived, however, all that changed. He thought the best way to build the future was to use the foundation

         from the past. And he knew he needed former players to breathe life into that tradition. Over the course of the season, Willingham

         would repeat one particular phrase a few hundred times: “I want all the players who have worn this uniform to be proud.” To

         entice former players to visit the campus, he introduced certain activities, including an alumni flag football game and a

         dinner each spring. All past players were invited to attend.

      


      But Willingham was very particular about whom he asked to address his team. “There are some people who want to speak to the

         team simply because they want to tell people they spoke to the team,” said Willingham. “I’m not looking for them. I’m looking

         for the pure in spirit. They’re easy to detect because they’re the ones who don’t usually want to speak. They’re the ones

         who don’t know how much they have to offer.” 

      


      Former offensive lineman Chris Clevenger was one of those guys. Clevenger was back at Notre Dame working on his M.B.A. when

         he stopped by practice for the first time since he quit playing after the 1997 season. Willingham asked him if he would like

         to address the Irish offensive line. Clevenger declined to speak, but the gesture carried much weight for him. “It means a

         lot,” said Clevenger. “It means a lot when the head coach takes an interest in the former players, what the former players

         think.” 

      


      Although he failed to get Clevenger to speak to the team, Willingham, hell-bent on recovering lost school spirit, set his

         sights on one of Notre Dame’s more dynamic personalities.

      

OEBPS/images/9780316069526.jpg
GLORY

INSIDE TYRONE WILLINGHAM’S AMAZING
FIRST SEASON AT NOTRE DAME

ALAN GRANT





